# Statistical Analysis Plan for clinical outcomes in the S-LiTE study

Section 1: Administrative information

Title: <u>Synergy effect of the appetite hormone GLP-1 (Liraglu</u>Tide) and <u>Exercise on maintenance of</u> weight loss and health after a low calorie diet – the <u>S-LiTE</u> randomized trial

Publication date: 27 November 2019 SAP version: 1 Protocol version: 10 The Universal Trial Number (UTN): U1111-1173-3104 EudraCT no: 2015-005585-32 ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04122716

This document is a supplement to the S-LiTE study protocol (1) and contains the statistical analysis plan for the article with the tentative title "A randomized controlled trial of the combined effects of the GLP-1 receptor agonist liraglutide and exercise on maintenance of weight loss, body composition and health after a very low-calorie diet" This document follows the guidelines for content of statistical analysis plans in clinical trials (2).

#### Scientific board

Signe Sørensen Torekov, Professor MSO Sten Madsbad, Professor, DMSci Bente Stallknecht, Professor, DMSci Jens Juul Holst, Professor, DMSci Julie Rehné Lundgren, MD, PhD Student Charlotte Janus, MSC, PhD student Christian Rimer Juhl, MD, PhD student Simon Birk Kjær Jensen, MSc

# Statistical advisor

Martin Bæk Blond, PhD, postdoc

#### Sponsor-Investigator

Signe Sørensen Torekov, Professor MSO University of Copenhagen Faculty of Health Sciences Department of Biomedical Sciences Blegdamsvej 3B DK-2200 Copenhagen N Denmark TEL +45 35327509/ +45 22983827 torekov@sund.ku.dk

# Signature page

To be signed by persons writing the Statistical Analysis Plan (SAP), senior statistician responsible, contributors to the SAP, principal investigator and co-investigators.

#### Title: <u>Synergy effect of the appetite hormone GLP-1 (LiragluTide) and Exercise on maintenance of weight</u> loss and health after a low calorie diet – the *S-LiTE* randomized trial

ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04122716 EudraCT no: 2015-005585-32

Name	Title	Role	Signature	Date
Signe Sørensen Torekov <sup>1,2</sup>	Professor MSO, Phd	Person writing the SAP and sponsor- investigator	Ser.	20/11-19
Simon Birk Kjær Jensen <sup>1,2</sup>	MSc	Person writing the SAP Co-investigator	Smen Tewen	20/11-19
Martin Bæk Blond <sup>3</sup>	PhD	Senior statistician responsible	MI-M	22/11-19
Charlotte Janus <sup>1,2</sup>	MSc, PhD- student	Contributor to SAP Co-investigator	22	20/11-19
Julie Rehné Lundgren <sup>1,2</sup>	MD, PhD- student	Contributor to SAP Co-investigator	fliff	21/11-17
Sten Madsbad⁴	Professor, DMSci	Principal investigator	And	eohi-A
Christian Rimer Juhl <sup>1,2</sup>	MD, PhD- student	Co-investigator	Ch R Intil	20/11 - 19
Bente Merete Stallknecht <sup>1</sup>	Professor, DMSci	Co-investigator	Betn. Se	22/11-19
Jens Juul Holst <sup>1,2</sup>	Professor, DMSci	Co-investigator	furtuallabit	22/n-2019

I hereby declare that I have reviewed and approved the Statistical Analysis Plan

**Affiliations** 

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biomedical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>2</sup>Novo Nordisk Foundation Center for Basic Metabolic Research, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

<sup>3</sup>Steno Diabetes Center Copenhagen, Gentofte, Denmark

<sup>4</sup>Department of Endocrinology, Hvidovre Hospital, Hvidovre, Denmark

# Contents

Section 1: Administrative information 1
Signature page
Section 2: Introduction
7 Background and Rationale (adapted from published protocol(1))
8 Objectives
Section 3: Study Methods
9 Trial design (from published protocol(1))6
10 Randomization
11 Sample size
12 Framework
13 Statistical interim analyses and stopping guidance7
14 Timing of final analyses
15 Timing of outcome assessments
Section 4: Statistical Principles
16-18 Confidence intervals and P values
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations    8      Section 5: Trial Population    9      21 Screening data    9
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations    8      Section 5: Trial Population    9      21 Screening data    9      22 Eligibility    9
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations    8      Section 5: Trial Population    9      21 Screening data    9      22 Eligibility    9      23 Recruitment    10      24 Withdrawal/follow-up    10
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations    8      Section 5: Trial Population    9      21 Screening data    9      22 Eligibility    9      23 Recruitment    10      24 Withdrawal/follow-up    10      25 Baseline participant characteristics    10
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations    8      Section 5: Trial Population    9      21 Screening data    9      22 Eligibility    9      23 Recruitment    10      24 Withdrawal/follow-up    10      25 Baseline participant characteristics    10      Section 6: Analysis    11
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations    8      Section 5: Trial Population    9      21 Screening data    9      22 Eligibility    9      23 Recruitment    10      24 Withdrawal/follow-up    10      25 Baseline participant characteristics    10      Section 6: Analysis    11      26 Outcome definitions    11
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations    8      Section 5: Trial Population    9      21 Screening data    9      22 Eligibility    9      23 Recruitment    10      24 Withdrawal/follow-up    10      25 Baseline participant characteristics    10      Section 6: Analysis    11      26 Outcome definitions    11      27 Analysis methods    13
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations8Section 5: Trial Population921 Screening data922 Eligibility923 Recruitment1024 Withdrawal/follow-up1025 Baseline participant characteristics10Section 6: Analysis1126 Outcome definitions1127 Analysis methods1328 Missing data13
19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations8Section 5: Trial Population921 Screening data922 Eligibility923 Recruitment1024 Withdrawal/follow-up1025 Baseline participant characteristics10Section 6: Analysis1126 Outcome definitions1127 Analysis methods1328 Missing data1329 Additional analyses14

# Section 2: Introduction

#### 7 Background and Rationale (adapted from published protocol(1))

Obesity is associated with increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes (T2D), along with increased risk of all-cause mortality (3,4). Obesity management guidelines recommends weight loss of more than 5 % of initial body weight to improve cardiometabolic risk factors, with greater weight loss producing greater benefits (5,6). However, weight regain reverse these health benefits (7,8). Furthermore, intentional weight loss is typically followed by a 30 to 50 % regain of lost weight within the first year (9–11). The main biological reasons for the rapid weight regain may be that weight loss causes a decrease in total energy expenditure to a degree that is greater than predicted from the decrease in fat and lean mass (12,13) in combination with increased appetite in the weight-reduced state (14,15).

Increasing energy expenditure by increasing physical activity is the first-line lifestyle modification in the treatment of obesity along with reducing food intake. For exercise interventions targeting general public health recommendations (at least 150 min/week of moderate intensity aerobic exercise), the associated weight loss is often modest (0-3 %) without concomitant calorie restriction (16–18). However, with exercise almost exclusively fat mass is lost whereas lean mass is close to unchanged (19–22) thereby improving body composition. Furthermore, independent of weight loss, exercise improves glycemic control, low grade inflammatory profile and cardiorespiratory fitness in individuals with overweight and obesity (21,23–25).

Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) is an incretin hormone secreted from L-cells in the gut after food intake. GLP-1 stimulates glucose-dependent insulin secretion thereby lowering blood glucose and reduces appetite and thereby food intake (26,27). Treatment for 56 weeks with the GLP-1 receptor agonist (GLP-1 RA), liraglutide (3.0 mg), as an adjunct to regular diet and physical activity recommendations has been shown to improve glycemic control and induce moderate weight loss of 4.0 % in patients with T2D (28) and 5.4 % in non-diabetic individuals with overweight or obesity (29) compared to placebo. In addition, liraglutide has been shown to maintain a diet-induced weight loss over 56 weeks (30) and maintain very low-calorie dietinduced improvements of fasting plasma glucose and triglycerides over 52 weeks of weight loss maintenance superior to similar diet-induced weight loss maintenance in obese individuals (15). Weight loss with liraglutide is a result of both reduced fat and lean mass (31,32).

Obesity is associated with chronic low-grade inflammation (33,34) which is linked to the development of atherosclerosis and insulin resistance (35–37). Physically active individuals have lower inflammatory biomarker concentrations than their inactive counterparts (24), possibly explained by anti-inflammatory effects of an acute bout of exercise (38) and lower levels of visceral adipose tissue (39). GLP-1 has also emerged as an immunomodulatory agent, as illustrated by GLP-1 analogue administration exerting anti-inflammatory actions in various cells, including endothelial cells, adipocytes, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and in plasma (40–44). Notably, in patients with T2D and high cardiovascular disease risk, GLP-1 RAs reduced the rate of occurrence of first major cardiovascular event (45,46). Thus, both physical activity and GLP-1 RA treatment seem to facilitate weight loss maintenance, improve metabolic health, and reduce systemic inflammation. However, diet-induced weight loss decreases energy expenditure and increases appetite.

We hypothesize that the combination of physical activity and liraglutide treatment improves weight loss maintenance, body composition and immunometabolic health since the decreased energy expenditure is targeted with exercise and the increased appetite with liraglutide.

# 8 Objectives

The overall objectives of this study are to investigate the maintenance of weight loss, body composition and immunometabolic health outcomes over 52 weeks with liraglutide treatment, physical exercise, and the combination in individuals with obesity after a very low-calorie diet.

The hypothesis hierarchy was not clearly specified in the protocol and we hereby define it as described below.

Hypothesis hierarchy for the primary outcome:

- We hypothesize that the combined treatment (exercise+liraglutide) is superior to placebo for maintaining total body weight loss. Superiority is claimed if the estimated difference between the changes in total body weight for the two groups (delta for exercise+liraglutide from V1 to V3 – delta for placebo from V1 to V3) favorizes the exercise+liraglutide group and that the lower limit of the CI95% for the estimated difference exceeds 0.
- 2. We hypothesize that liraglutide is superior to placebo for maintaining total body weight loss. Superiority is claimed if the estimated difference between the changes in total body weight for the two groups (delta for liraglutide from V1 to V3 – delta for placebo from V1 to V3) favorizes the liraglutide group and that the lower limit of the CI95% for the estimated difference exceeds 0.
- 3. We hypothesize that the combined treatment (exercise+liraglutide) is non-inferior to liraglutide for maintaining total body weight loss.
- 4. We hypothesize that exercise is non-inferior to placebo for maintaining total body weight loss.
- 5. We hypothesize that the combined treatment (exercise+liraglutide) is superior to exercise for maintaining total body weight loss.

Secondary outcome:

- 6. We hypothesize that the combined treatment (liraglutide+exercise) is superior to liraglutide for body composition (total body fat percentage). Superiority is claimed if the estimated difference between the changes in total body fat percentage for the two groups (delta for liraglutide+exercise from V1 to V3 delta for liraglutide from V1 to V3) favorizes the liraglutide+exercise group and that the lower limit of the CI95% for the estimated difference exceeds 0.
- 7. We hypothesize that exercise is superior to placebo for body composition (total body fat percentage). Superiority is claimed if the estimated difference between the changes in total body fat percentage for the two groups (delta for exercise from V1 to V3 delta for placebo from V1 to V3) favorizes the exercise group and that the lower limit of the CI95% for the estimated difference exceeds 0.
- 8. We hypothesize that the combined treatment (exercise+liraglutide) is non-inferior to exercise for body composition (total body fat percentage).

# Section 3: Study Methods

# 9 Trial design (from published protocol(1))

The S-LiTE trial (acronym for '<u>Synergy</u> effect of the appetite hormone GLP-1 (<u>LiragluTide</u>) and <u>Exercise</u> on maintenance of weight loss and health after a low calorie diet') is an investigator-initiated, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallel group trial. The trial is triple-blinded with regards to study medication but not exercise intervention. The trial is registered at the European Clinical Trials Database (EudraCT Nr.: 2015-005585-32).

# Description of Interventions

<u>Diet-induced weight loss</u>: Initially, all participants will undergo eight weeks with a very low-calorie diet (VLCD) (Cambridge Weight Plan, 800 kcal/day) with the objective to lose at least 5 % of body weight. Although benefits are evident already at modest weight loss of 2-3 % (e.g. triglycerides and HbA1c) (6),  $a \ge 5$  % cut-off after 8 weeks is chosen because fast weight losers have obtained a greater weight reduction and long-term maintenance, and were not more susceptible to weight regain than gradual weight losers (47). Participants who have lost at least 5 % of body weight after the eight-week weight loss phase will be randomized to one of the four study groups: 52 weeks of treatment with 1) placebo, 2) exercise + placebo, 3) liraglutide, or 4) exercise + liraglutide.

# Liraglutide or placebo

The GLP-1 RA, liraglutide (3.0 mg), or placebo will be administrated once daily as subcutaneous injections in the abdomen or thigh. The starting dose is 0.6 mg with weekly increments of 0.6 mg until 3.0 mg is achieved. Participants who do not tolerate the 3.0 mg dose may in special circumstances stay at a lower dose (2.4 mg). However, the aim is to reach 3.0 mg for all study participants.

#### Physical exercise

The exercise intervention follows WHO's global recommendations on physical activity for health of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity (48). The intervention aims for four sessions per week. Two sessions per week will be performed under supervision of the study staff and two sessions will be performed individually. Supervised sessions will consist of structured exercise for a duration of 45 min. Of this, 30 min will be interval-based spinning and 15 min will be circuit training focusing on large muscle groups. Individual exercise sessions will include aerobic exercise such as cycling, rowing, or elliptical training as well as brisk walking or cycling to work. Participants randomized to an exercise group will undergo a 6-week ramp-up phase with exercise before exercising four times per week from week 7 to 52. Participants not randomized to exercise will be instructed to maintain habitual physical activity according to level before entering the trial.

#### Liraglutide and physical exercise

Combination of the two interventions described above.

#### Study visits

Identical test days will take place before the initial weight loss phase (V0, week -8), after initial weight loss (V1, week 0) and after 52 weeks of treatment (V3). For details on test days, see study protocol (1).

Weight consultations will be performed weekly during initial VLCD phase and at week 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 13, 17, 22, 26, 32, 39 and 46. Fasting blood samples will be collected at week 4, 13, 26 and 39.

Finally, participants will be invited to complete a post-trial unsupervised follow-up visit (V4) 1 year after intervention completion.

# 10 Randomization

After the initial eight-week VLCD phase, participants will be randomized after the test day (V1) to one of the four study groups in a 1:1:1:1 ratio in accordance with a subject randomization list (SRL) provided by Novo Nordisk. An un-blinded study nurse (not otherwise associated with the trial) will allocate study participants according to the SRL. Randomization will be stratified by sex (male/female) and age (below/above 40 years).

# 11 Sample size

# Sample size calculation for total body weight:

Sample size for primary endpoint was calculated in relation to total body weight. Based on previous weight loss studies with liraglutide (15,49), we estimate the response within each treatment group to be normally distributed with a standard deviation of 5.5 kg. Thus, with 30 participants completing each study arm we will be able to detect a difference in delta of 4 kg between groups with a power of 0.8, assuming a two-sided  $\alpha$ -level of 0.05. We will need 34 completers in each arm in order to attain a statistical power of 0.85 and 40 completers in each arm to attain a statistical power of 0.90. In our previous study, 10 % of participants who entered the initial VLCD phase did not complete this phase (15). With 222 recruited study participants and an expected dropout rate of 25 % after randomization, we expect to have at least 30 participants from each study arm to complete the trial.

# Sample size for total body fat percentage

Sample size for secondary endpoint body composition was calculated in relation to total body fat percentage. Based on previous exercise trials (20,50–52) the response within each treatment group was estimated to have a standard deviation of 2.1%. Thus, with 32 participants completing each study arm we will be able to detect a difference in delta body fat percentage of 1.5% between groups with a power of 0.8, assuming a two-sided  $\alpha$ -level of 0.05. We will need 36 completers to attain a statistical power of 0.85. Sample size calculation for fat percentage was performed in relation to writing the SAP; after the intervention was started but prior to the termination of the intervention.

12 Framework See point 8.

#### 13 Statistical interim analyses and stopping guidance

No interim analyses were planned and no guidelines for terminating the trial early was made.

# 14 Timing of final analyses

Results from V1 to V3 will be analyzed when the final participant completes the trial. Analyses including V4 will be performed when the final participant has completed V4.

# 15 Timing of outcome assessments

Body weight is measured at week -8 (V0), -7, -6, -5, -4, -3, -2, -1, 0 (V1), 1, 2, 4, 9, 13, 17, 22, 26, 39, 46, 52 (V3) and 104 (V4).

Body composition is measured at V0, V1, V3 and V4. See point 26 for timing of descriptive/explorative outcome assessments.

# Section 4: Statistical Principles

# 16-18 Confidence intervals and P values

P-values and 95% confidence intervals will be presented for comparisons (between and within group) and will not be adjusted for multiplicity. 95% confidence intervals will be presented for estimated levels and will not be adjusted for multiplicity. A hierarchical testing procedure will be used to control the type 1 error for tests with predefined hypotheses (see point 8); all subsequent tests will be regarded as descriptive/explorative if a test fails to confirm a given hypothesis. All non-hypothesis-based tests are per definition of a descriptive/exploratory nature. Statistical significance will be claimed if the null hypothesis is rejected at the alpha level of 0.05 (two-sided), i.e. the P-value of the null hypothesis test is  $\leq 0.05$ . 95% confidence intervals will be required to support the tested hypothesis for hypothesis-based tests (see 8), and for exploratory/descriptive test on an absolute or relative scale not include 0 or 1 respectively.

19-20 Adherence and protocol deviations and Analysis populations

Intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis set:

All participants analyzed as randomized.

# Per Protocol (PP) analysis set:

All participants who complete the 52-week randomized treatment period with sufficient compliance to study medication and/or exercise protocol as defined by:

<u>Study medication</u>: Having administered 2.4 or 3.0 mg subcutaneous (sc) liraglutide/placebo for at least 75% of the intervention period (measured by self-reporting during the 12 visits from week 1 to 52 after up-titration). Compliance to study medication will be summarized as number and percentage of participants equal to or above 75 %.

<u>Exercise</u>: Sports watches with heart rate monitors will be worn during all exercise sessions. For all participants in an exercise group, we will report duration of exercise (minutes per week), mean intensity during exercise (percentage of maximum heart rate) and exercise frequency (times per week). Exercise duration, intensity and frequency will be summarized as median plus  $25^{th}$  and  $75^{th}$  percentiles. Heart rate will be measured with a frequency of 1 Hz during all exercise. Relative exercise intensity for each heart rate measurement will be classified based on percentage of maximum heart rate (determined during an maximal incremental cycle ergometer test) in accordance with ACSM's position stand on prescribing exercise(53), i.e. very light intensity (<57% of HR<sub>max</sub>), light intensity (57-63% of HR<sub>max</sub>), moderate intensity ( $\geq 96\%$  HR<sub>max</sub>).

For exercise sessions where heart rate data is missing (e.g. due to forgotten watch for supervised exercise), the exercise duration will be noted and the participants average intensity and time at different intensity zones will be imputed. Exercise will be averaged for all weeks after the ramp-up phase and until end-of-trial test day and exercise compliance will be calculated as percentage of WHO's global recommendations on physical activity for health (48): Adults aged 18–64 should do at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or do at least 75 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity throughout the week or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity

*activity.* Thus, for example, one minute of moderate-intensity exercise will account for 1/150 and one minute of vigorous- or near-maximal to maximal intensity exercise will account for 1/75 of prescribed weekly exercise. Per protocol analysis set will be defined as meeting at least 75% of global recommendations.

For participants to be included in the per protocol analysis:

a) Liraglutide group: Having administered 2.4 or 3.0 mg sc liraglutide for at least 75% of the intervention period.

b) Placebo group: Having administered 2.4 or 3.0 mg sc placebo for at least 75% of the intervention period.

c) Exercise + placebo group: Having administered 2.4 or 3.0 mg sc placebo for at least 75% of the intervention period and having met at least 75% of global recommendations on physical activity.

d) Exercise + liraglutide group: Having administered 2.4 or 3.0 mg sc liraglutide for at least 75% of the intervention period and having met at least 75% of global recommendations on physical activity.

# Section 5: Trial Population

# 21 Screening data

Screening data will not be reported.

# 22 Eligibility

Inclusion criteria:

- BMI > 32 and < 43 (kg/m<sup>2</sup>)
- Age >18 and <65 years
- Safe contraceptive method

#### Exclusion criteria:

- Patients diagnosed with *known* serious chronic illness including type 1 or 2 diabetes (or a randomly measured fasting plasma glucose > 7 mmol/l)
- Angina pectoris, coronary heart disease, congestive heart failure (NYHA III-IV)
- Severe renal impairment (creatinine clearance (GFR) <30 mL/min)
- Severe hepatic impairment
- Inflammatory bowel disease
- Diabetic gastroparesis
- Cancer
- Chronic obstructive lung disease
- Psychiatric disease, a history of major depressive or other severe psychiatric disorders
- The use of medications that cause clinically significant weight gain or loss
- Previous bariatric surgery
- A history of idiopathic acute pancreatitis
- A family or personal history of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2 or familial medullary thyroid carcinoma
- Osteoarthritis which is judged to be too severe to manage the exercise programme. As intended per study design the intervention will include a 5% weight loss prior to randomization, thus it is

expected that possible participants with mild form of osteoarthritis will be able to manage exercise prescriptions.

- Pregnancy, expecting pregnancy or breast feeding. If a study participant is in doubt whether she could be pregnant, a urine pregnancy test is performed. Females of childbearing potential who are not using adequate contraceptive methods (as required by local law or practice). Adequate contraception must be used throughout the study period and at least 65 hours after discontinuation of trial medication (65 hours corresponds to 5 times the half-life of liraglutide).
- Allergy to any of the ingredients/excipients of the study medication: liraglutide, disodium phosphate dihydrate, propylene glycol, phenol, hydrochloric acid, sodium hydroxide.
- Regular exercise training at high intensity (e.g. spinning) >2 hours per week.

# 23 Recruitment

The flow chart of the trial will follow the CONSORT guidelines and will include the number of participants who a) received oral information, b) were assessed for eligibility at prescreening, c) were included in the trial, d) attended first test day and initiated VLCD, e) were withdrawn or excluded from the VLCD phase, f) were randomized, g) were allocated to the four intervention groups, h) lost to follow-up, i) discontinued the intervention, and j) were analyzed in the end.

# 24 Withdrawal/follow-up

If a randomized participant withdraws, we will offer to perform all or some of the investigations planned at V3. The number/frequency of participants lost to follow-up (those not attending a weight measurement at V3) will be provided for each group and for each time point. If possible, the reasons for participants not completing the trial will be given. Summary of baseline levels for variables reported in the baseline table will be provided for completers and non-completers. Spaghetti plots will be used to visualize levels of the main outcome for completers and non-completers.

#### 25 Baseline participant characteristics

The distribution of all outcomes included in baseline characteristics will be visually inspected using QQplots and histograms; those with a Gaussian distribution will be presented as means and standard deviations and those with a non-Gaussian distribution will be presented as medians plus 25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles.

The following outcomes will be included in the baseline participant characteristics table for all participants combined at V0, all participants combined at V1 and participants divided by randomization group at V1:

- Number of participants (men/women)
- Age (years)
- Weight (kg)
- BMI (kg/m<sup>2</sup>)
- Waist circumference (cm)
- Total fat mass (kg)
- Total fat free mass (kg)
- Body fat percentage (%)

- Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)
- Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)
- HbA1c (mmol/mol)
- Fasting glucose (mmol/L)
- Fasting insulin (pmol/L)
- Fasting C-peptide (pmol/L)
- Glucose AUC (mmol/L\*min)
- Insulin AUC (pmol/L\*min)
- Cholesterol: total, LDL and HDL (mmol/L)
- Triglycerides (mmol/L)
- Peak oxygen consumption (ml/min)
- Peak oxygen consumption (ml/min/kg)
- HOMA-IR (fasting insulin (pmol/L) \* fasting glucose (mmol/L) / 22.5)
- Matsuda index (10000/sqrt(fasting glucose \* fasting insulin \* mean glucose \* mean insulin)
- SF-36 (scoring of eight health concepts ranging from 0-100: physical functioning, role limitations due to physical health problems, role limitations due to personal or emotional problems, energy/fatigue, emotional well-being, social functioning, pain, and general health perception)
- ALAT (U/L)
- Amylase (U/L)
- CRP (mg/L)

# Section 6: Analysis

# 26 Outcome definitions

<u>Primary outcome</u>: Primary outcome is the change in total body weight (measured to the nearest 0.1 kg) from baseline (V1) to end-of-treatment (V3). A weight difference of 2.5-4.5 % body weight, obtained with liraglutide or semaglutide compared to placebo, have been associated with beneficial cardiovascular outcomes (45,46). A weight difference of 1-5% of body weight obtained with exercise has been associated with beneficial cardiovascular disease risk factors (17,18) and prevention of diabetes (54).

Thus, a difference in delta of 3-5% of total body weight has been defined as the minimal important difference. With a study population consisting of men and women (expected mean height of 170-174 cm based on previous lifestyle trials performed in Denmark (15,55,56) and a BMI range of 32-43 kg  $/m^2$ , a difference of 3-5% of total body weight will correspond to 4 kg.

<u>Secondary outcome</u>: Secondary outcome body composition is defined as change in total body fat percentage (measured to the nearest 0.01 % in fasted state with dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) scans) from V1 to V3. In most exercise interventions with aerobic exercise, almost exclusively fat mass is lost whereas lean mass is close to unchanged (19–22). In weight loss studies with liraglutide, a combination of fat and lean mass is lost (31,32). The clinically relevant effect size for changes in fat percentage is not well described or investigated. However, based on the results of previous exercise interventions (20,57), a decrease in fat percentage equivalent of approximately 1.5 % seems to be physiologically relevant.

#### Descriptive/explorative outcomes:

Change from V1 to V3:

- Body composition (fat free mass (kg) and fat mass (kg))
- Circulating biomarkers of metabolic regulation to evaluate metabolic health (fasting and 3h AUC glucose (mmol/L and mmol/L\*min) and fasting and 3h AUC insulin (pmol/L and pmol/L\*min) for HOMA-IR and Matsuda index, HbA1c (mmol/mol), waist circumference (cm), systolic and diastolic blood pressure (mmHg), lipids (total cholesterol, HDL, LDL, and triglycerides (mmol/L))
- Safety (adverse events). Adverse events with an incident of ≥ 5 % in any treatment group and all serious adverse events will be reported by system organ class and preferred term for participants in all four treatment groups separately and for liraglutide pooled (exercise and non-exercise) and placebo pooled (exercise and non-exercise). Events will be reported as percentage of individuals experiencing an adverse event.
- Self-rated quality of life will be measured with the SF-36 questionnaire. Eight health concepts ranging from 0-100 will be scored: physical functioning, role limitations due to physical health problems, role limitations due to personal or emotional problems, energy/fatigue, emotional well-being, social functioning, pain, and general health perception.
- Peak oxygen uptake (absolute (ml/min) and relative (ml/min/kg))
- Stair test (S) and maximal isometric strenght test (N)
- Use of medication (n, frequency)
- Meal related appetite response
- Determination of daily physical activity and sleep
- Systemic markers of immune-metabolism and oxidation
- Endothelial function
- Immuno-metabolic changes in the subcutaneous adipose tissue
- Gene expression profile of circulating inflammatory cells
- Bone health
- Food preference questionnaire (LFPQ) and subjective appetite sensation
- Faecal bacterial composition
- Plasma metabolomics and proteomics
- Epigenetics of spermatozoa
- Questionnaires (TFEQ, IPAQ, G-SES, PSQI)

Outcomes measured at other time points:

- Body weight (week -7, -6, -5, -4, -3, -2, -1, 1, 2, 4, 9, 13, 17, 22, 26, 32, 39, 46 and V4)
- Number/proportion of participants that have reduced total body weight by ≥5%, ≥10% and ≥15% at V3 compared with V0
- Body composition (V0 and V4)
- Metabolic health (week 4, 13, 26, 39 and V4)
- Safety (adverse events) (week 1, 2, 3, 4, 9, 13, 17, 22, 26, 32, 39 and 46)
- Meal related appetite response (V0)
- Peak oxygen uptake, stair test and maximal isometric strenght test (V0)
- Systemic markers of immune-metabolism and oxidation (V0)

- Endothelial function (V0)
- Immuno-metabolic changes in the subcutaneous adipose tissue (V0 and week 26)
- Gene expression profile of circulating inflammatory cells (V0)
- Bone health (V0 and V4)
- Food preference questionnaire (LFPQ) (V0 and V4) and subjective appetite sensation (V0)
- Faecal bacterial composition (V0)
- Plasma metabolomics and proteomics (V0, week 4, 13, 26, 39 and V4)
- Epigenetics of spermatozoa (V0)
- Questionnaries (SF-36, TFEQ, IPAQ, G-SES, PSQI) (V0 and V4)
- Measurement of sleep and physical activity levels (V0, week 13, 26 and V4)

# 27 Analysis methods

Analyses of primary and secondary outcome (except for the pre-planned sensitivity analyses) will be performed based on the intention-to-treat (ITT) principle. All continuous endpoints/outcomes will be modelled using linear mixed effects models with the following fixed effects and interactions: Time (factorial), Treatment, Time (factorial)\*Treatment, sex (female, male) and age group (<40 years, >40 years). The models will be specified with a restricted maximum likelihood estimation method, the Kenward-Roger degrees of freedom method, an unstructured covariance structure and a random intercept on participant level. Model fit will be evaluated using graphical methods and if necessary, outcomes will be log-transformed. Estimated mean differences (CI95%) for changes between groups (main study effects), conditional means (CI95%), and within group changes (CI95%) will be extracted from the model. For log-transformed outcomes the results will be back-transformed and be presented as the ratio between estimated relative changes (CI95%), estimated conditional geometric means (CI95%) and within group relative changes (CI95%), respectively. Between group differences in changes will be null-hypothesis tested and presented with P-values.

The following predefined sensitivity analyses will be performed for the primary and secondary outcome; an additional ITT analysis with adjustment for initial weight loss, an ITT analysis using multiple imputation to assess effects of missing data (see also 28), and finally an analysis of per protocol completers.

The analysis of the primary and secondary outcome will be performed blinded to group allocation by a researcher (Martin Bæk Blond) that have not been involved in the execution of the trial. The statistical and clinical/physiological implications of the results will be evaluated by the research team before un-blinding.

# 28 Missing data

The number/frequency of missing values for the primary and secondary outcome in each group at each time point will be provided. For the main analysis, the results will be based on likelihood inference and missing data will be assumed to be missing completely at random or missing at random. An additional analysis based on multiple imputation of missing values will be performed (see also 27). The dataset used for the imputations will include all observations for total body weight measured at or between V1-V3, and the auxiliary variables Sex (male or female) and Age (continuous, years). Under the assumption that weight changes in participants after loss to follow-up would resemble the development in the placebo groups rather than the development in the group to which they were originally randomized, the participants with

missing values at V3 will be pooled with the placebo group and using a Markov chain Monte Carlo method all missing values will be imputed, assuming a multivariate normal distribution for the data, to create 1000 new datasets. Subsequently, the imputed datasets will be analyzed using the same mixed linear model used for the main analysis and averaged estimates calculated. If the main outcome has been transformed to fit the statistical model used for the main analysis this transformation will be applied in the imputation procedure.

#### 29 Additional analyses Not relevant

# 30 Harms

Adverse events (defined in the trial protocol) with an incident of  $\geq$  5 % in any treatment group and all serious adverse events will be reported by system organ class and preferred term for participants in all four treatment groups separately and for liraglutide pooled (exercise and non-exercise) and placebo pooled (exercise and non-exercise). Events will be reported as the number of and percentage of individuals experiencing an adverse event. Rates of adverse events will not be compared by null-hypothesis testing.

#### 31 Statistical software

R version 3.6.0 or newer version (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, www.R-project.org) and SAS version 9.4 or newer version (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

# References

- 1 Jensen SBK, Lundgren JR, Janus C, Juhl CR, Olsen LM, Rosenkilde M *et al.* Protocol for a randomised controlled trial of the combined effects of the GLP-1 receptor agonist liraglutide and exercise on maintenance of weight loss and health after a very low-calorie diet. *BMJ Open* 2019; **9**: e031431.
- 2 Gamble C, Krishan A, Stocken D, Lewis S, Juszczak E, Doré C *et al.* Guidelines for the content of statistical analysis plans in clinical trials. *JAMA J Am Med Assoc* 2017; **318**: 2337–2343.
- Akram D, Astrup A, Atinmo T, Boissi J, Bray G, Carroll K *et al.* Obesity: Preventing and managing the global epidemic. World Health Organization. *Tech Rep Ser* 2000.
- Abdelaal M, le Roux CW, Docherty NG. Morbidity and mortality associated with obesity. Ann Transl Med 2017;
  5: 161–161.
- 5 Garvey WT, Mechanick JI, Brett EM, Garber AJ, Hurley DL, Jastreboff AM *et al.* American association of clinical endocrinologists and American college of endocrinology comprehensive clinical practice guidelines for medical care of patients with obesity. *Endocr Pract* 2016; **22**: 1–203.
- 6 Jensen MD, Ryan DH, Apovian CM, Ard JD, Comuzzie AG, Donato KA *et al.* 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS Guideline for the Management of Overweight and Obesity in Adults. *Circulation* 2014; **129**: S102–S138.
- 7 Kroeger CM, Hoddy KK, Varady KA. Impact of weight regain on metabolic disease risk: A review of human trials. J Obes. 2014; **2014**: 614519.
- 8 Thomas TR, Warner SO, Dellsperger KC, Hinton PS, Whaley-Connell AT, Rector RS *et al.* Exercise and the metabolic syndrome with weight regain. *J Appl Physiol* 2010; **109**: 3–10.
- 9 Anderson JW, Konz EC, Frederich RC, Wood CL. Long-term weight-loss maintenance: a meta-analysis of US studies. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2001; **74**: 579–584.
- 10 Barte JCM, Ter Bogt NCW, Bogers RP, Teixeira PJ, Blissmer B, Mori TA *et al.* Maintenance of weight loss after lifestyle interventions for overweight and obesity, a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2010; **11**: 899–906.
- 11 Curioni CC, Lourenc -O PM. Long-term weight loss after diet and exercise: a systematic review. *Int J Obes* 2005; **29**: 1168–1174.
- 12 Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL. Adaptive thermogenesis in humans. *Int J Obes* 2010; **34**: S47–S55.

- 13 Leibel RL, Rosenbaum M, Hirsch J. Changes in Energy Expenditure Resulting from Altered Body Weight. *N Engl J Med* 1995; **332**: 621–628.
- 14 Iepsen EW, Lundgren J, Holst JJ, Madsbad S, Torekov SS. Successful weight loss maintenance includes longterm increased meal responses of GLP-1 and PYY3-36. *Eur J Endocrinol* 2016; **174**: 775–784.
- 15 lepsen EW, Lundgren J, Dirksen C, Jensen JE, Pedersen O, Hansen T *et al.* Treatment with a GLP-1 receptor agonist diminishes the decrease in free plasma leptin during maintenance of weight loss. *Int J Obes* 2015; **39**: 834–841.
- 16 Swift DL, Johannsen NM, Lavie CJ, Earnest CP, Church TS. The Role of Exercise and Physical Activity in Weight Loss and Maintenance. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 2014; **56**: 441–447.
- 17 Donnelly JE, Blair SN, Jakicic JM, Manore MM, Rankin JW, Smith BK. Appropriate physical activity intervention strategies for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2009; **41**: 459–471.
- 18 Shaw K, Gennat H, O'Rourke P, Del Mar C. Exercise for overweight or obesity. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD003817.pub3.www.cochranelibrary.com.
- 19 Donnelly JE, Jacobsen DJ, Snyder Heelan K, Seip R, Smith S. The effects of 18 months of intermittent vs continuous exercise on aerobic capacity, body weight and composition, and metabolic ®tness in previously sedentary, moderately obese females. 2000www.nature.com/ijo (accessed 12 Nov2019).
- 20 Willis LH, Slentz CA, Bateman LA, Shields AT, Piner LW, Bales CW *et al.* Effects of aerobic and/or resistance training on body mass and fat mass in overweight or obese adults. *J Appl Physiol* 2012; **113**: 1831–1837.
- 21 Nordby P, Auerbach PL, Rosenkilde M, Kristiansen L, Thomasen JR, Rygaard L *et al.* Endurance training per se increases metabolic health in young, moderately overweight men. *Obesity* 2012; **20**: 2202–2212.
- 22 Foster-Schubert KE, Alfano CM, Duggan CR, Xiao L, Campbell KL, Kong A *et al.* Effect of diet and exercise, alone or combined, on weight and body composition in overweight-to-obese postmenopausal women. *Obesity* 2012; **20**: 1628–1638.
- 23 Bruce CR, Thrush AB, Mertz VA, Bezaire V, Chabowski A, Heigenhauser GJF *et al.* Endurance training in obese humans improves glucose tolerance and mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation and alters muscle lipid content. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 2010; **291**: 99–107.
- 24 Beavers KM, Brinkley TE, Nicklas BJ. Effects of Exercise Training on Chronic Inflammation. *Clin Chim Acta* 2010; **411**: 785–793.
- Lavie CJ, Arena R, Swift DL, Johannsen NM, Sui X, Lee DC *et al*. Exercise and the cardiovascular system: Clinical science and cardiovascular outcomes. *Circ Res* 2015; **117**: 207–219.
- 26 Flint A, Raben A, Astrup A, Holst JJ. Glucagon-like peptide 1 promotes satiety and suppresses energy intake in humans. *J Clin Invest* 1998; **101**: 515–520.
- 27 Holst JJ, Deacon CF, Vilsbøll T, Krarup T, Madsbad S. Glucagon-like peptide-1, glucose homeostasis and diabetes. *Trends Mol Med* 2008; **14**: 161–168.
- 28 Davies MJ, Bergenstal R, Bode B, Kushner RF, Lewin A, Skjøth TV *et al.* Efficacy of liraglutide for weight loss among patients with type 2 diabetes: The SCALE diabetes randomized clinical trial. *JAMA - J Am Med Assoc* 2015; **314**: 687–699.
- 29 Pi-Sunyer X, Astrup A, Fujioka K, Greenway F, Halpern A, Krempf M *et al.* A Randomized, Controlled Trial of 3.0 mg of Liraglutide in Weight Management. *N Engl J Med* 2015; **373**: 11–22.
- 30 Wadden TA, Hollander P, Klein S, Niswender K, Woo V, Hale PM *et al.* Weight maintenance and additional weight loss with liraglutide after low-calorie-diet-induced weight loss: The SCALE Maintenance randomized study. *Int J Obes* 2013; **37**: 1443–1451.
- 31 Jendle J, Nauck MA, Matthews DR, Frid A, Hermansen K, Düring M *et al.* Weight loss with liraglutide, a oncedaily human glucagon-like peptide-1 analogue for type 2 diabetes treatment as monotherapy or added to metformin, is primarily as a result of a reduction in fat tissue. *Diabetes, Obes Metab* 2009; **11**: 1163–1172.
- 32 Frøssing S, Nylander M, Chabanova E, Frystyk J, Holst JJ, Kistorp C *et al.* Effect of liraglutide on ectopic fat in polycystic ovary syndrome: A randomized clinical trial. *Diabetes, Obes Metab* 2018; **20**: 215–218.
- 33 Stępień M, Stępień A, Wlazeł RN, Paradowski M, Banach M, Rysz J. Obesity indices and inflammatory markers in obese non-diabetic normo- and hypertensive patients: A comparative pilot study. *Lipids Health Dis* 2014; **13**: 10–13.
- Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Yannakoulia M, Chrysohoou C, Stefanadis C. The implication of obesity and central fat on markers of chronic inflammation: The ATTICA study. *Atherosclerosis* 2005; **183**: 308–315.
- Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. Inflammation and Atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 2002; **105**.
- <sup>36</sup> Duncan BB, Schmidt MI, Pankow JS, Ballantyne CM, Couper D, Vigo A *et al.* Low-grade systemic inflammation and the development of type 2 diabetes: The atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Diabetes* 2003; **52**:

1799–1805.

- 37 Vozarova B, Weyer C, Lindsay RS, Pratley RE, Bogardus C, Antonio Tataranni P. High white blood cell count is associated with a worsening of insulin sensitivity and predicts the development of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 2002; **51**: 455–461.
- 38 Starkie R, Ostrowski SR, Jauffred S, Febbraio M, Pedersen BK. Exercise and IL-6 infusion inhibit endotoxininduced TNF-α production in humans. *FASEB J* 2003; **17**: 884–886.
- Gleeson M, Bishop NC, Stensel DJ, Lindley MR, Mastana SS, Nimmo MA. The anti-inflammatory effects of exercise: Mechanisms and implications for the prevention and treatment of disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2011; 11: 607–610.
- 40 Chaudhuri A, Ghanim H, Vora M, Sia CL, Korzeniewski K, Dhindsa S *et al.* Exenatide exerts a potent antiinflammatory effect. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2012; **97**: 198–207.
- 41 Hogan AE, Gaoatswe G, Lynch L, Corrigan MA, Woods C, O'Connell J *et al*. Glucagon-like peptide 1 analogue therapy directly modulates innate immune-mediated inflammation in individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 2014; : 781–784.
- 42 Garczorz W, Gallego-Colon E, Kosowska A, Kłych-Ratuszny A, Woźniak M, Marcol W *et al.* Exenatide exhibits anti-inflammatory properties and modulates endothelial response to tumor necrosis factor α-mediated activation. *Cardiovasc Ther* 2018; **36**. doi:10.1111/1755-5922.12317.
- 43 von Scholten BJ, Persson F, Rosenlund S, Eugen-Olsen J, Pielak T, Faber J *et al.* Effects of liraglutide on cardiovascular risk biomarkers in patients with type 2 diabetes and albuminuria: A sub-analysis of a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, crossover trial. *Diabetes, Obes Metab* 2017; **19**: 901–905.
- 44 Lee YS, Park MS, Choung JS, Kim SS, Oh HH, Choi CS *et al.* Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits adipose tissue macrophage infiltration and inflammation in an obese mouse model of diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2012; **55**: 2456– 2468.
- 45 Marso SP, Daniels GH, Brown-Frandsen K, Kristensen P, Mann JFE, Nauck MA *et al.* Liraglutide and Cardiovascular Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 2016; **375**: 311–322.
- 46 Marso SP, Bain SC, Consoli A, Eliaschewitz FG, Jodar E, Leiter LA *et al.* Semaglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 2016; **375**: 1834–1844.
- 47 Nackers LM, Ross KM, Perri MG. The association between rate of initial weight loss and long-term success in obesity treatment: Does slow and steady win the race? *Int J Behav Med* 2010; **17**: 161–167.
- 48 World Health Organization. Physical Activity and Adults Recommended levels of physical activity for adults aged 18 - 64 years. https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet\_adults/ (accessed 8 Apr2019).
- 49 Astrup A, Rössner S, Van Gaal L, Rissanen A, Niskanen L, Al Hakim M *et al.* Effects of liraglutide in the treatment of obesity: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Lancet* 2009; **374**: 1606–1616.
- 50 Mensberg P, Nyby S, Jørgensen PG, Storgaard H, Jensen MT, Sivertsen J *et al.* Near-normalization of glycaemic control with glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist treatment combined with exercise in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obes Metab* 2017; **19**: 172–180.
- 51 Skrypnik D, Bogdański P, Mądry E, Karolkiewicz J, Ratajczak M, Kryšciak J *et al.* Effects of Endurance and Endurance Strength Training on Body Composition and Physical Capacity in Women with Abdominal Obesity. *Obes Facts* 2015; **8**: 175–187.
- 52 Slentz CA, Duscha BD, Johnson JL, Ketchum K, Aiken LB, Samsa GP *et al.* Effects of the Amount of Exercise on Body Weight, Body Composition, and Measures of Central Obesity: STRRIDE - A Randomized Controlled Study. *Arch Intern Med* 2004; **164**: 31–39.
- 53 Garber CE, Blissmer B, Deschenes MR, Franklin BA, Lamonte MJ, Lee IM *et al.* Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: Guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2011; **43**: 1334–1359.
- 54 Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, Hamman RF, Lachin JM, Walker EA *et al.* Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *N Engl J Med* 2002; **346**: 393–403.
- 55 Blond MB, Rosenkilde M, Gram AS, Tindborg M, Christensen AN, Quist JS *et al.* How does 6 months of active bike commuting or leisure-time exercise affect insulin sensitivity, cardiorespiratory fitness and intra-abdominal fat? A randomised controlled trial in individuals with overweight and obesity. *Br J Sports Med* 2019; **53**: 1183– 1192.
- 56 Iepsen EW, Zhang J, Thomsen HS, Hansen EL, Hollensted M, Madsbad S et al. Patients with Obesity Caused by Melanocortin-4 Receptor Mutations Can Be Treated with a Glucagon-like Peptide-1 Receptor Agonist. Cell Metab 2018; 28: 23-32.e3.
- 57 Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Boulé NG, Wells GA, Prud'homme D, Fortier M et al. Effects of aerobic training, resistance

training, or both on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes: A randomized trial. *Ann Intern Med* 2007; **147**: 357–369.